1953

Rennold Pender v. S. W. Dowse and Pearl Dowse et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

All of the defendants have appealed from a decree of the Third District Court setting aside a sheriff's sale

and deed issued upon an execution to S. W. Dowse and mortgage and deed executed by him to defendants Treadway and Whitaker (R. 249-251).

The action arose indirectly out of a suit to quiet title and for slander of title entitled *S. W. Dowse v. Rennold Pender*, Defendant, Case No. 86895 in the Third District Court for Salt Lake County (Findings of Fact, 4, R. 240). The respondent S. W. Dowse obtained a small judgment for costs in that case, had writ of execution issue, published notice of execution sale, and held an execution sale on March 14, 1950 (Findings 8, R. 241). The respondent Dowse, who was the plaintiff, and the judgment creditor in that case, bid in all of the property at that sale for the sum of \$47.46 (Finding 8, R. 241). The regularity of that sale, and the question of its voidability are two of the points raised by the appellants Dowse in this case, have been adequately covered in their brief, and will not be argued herein.

The property sold in the execution sale was in three tracts, all in the North Columbia Subdivision in Salt Lake County. In Block 8 the tract covered lots 1, 2, 3, 4, and 13 to 21. The Block 6 tract comprised Lots 1, 19 and 20, and the Block 4 tract comprised Lots 2 and 3, 6 and 7 (Complaint R. 1, Finding 2, R. 239). The Sheriff's Deed issued six months and a day after the sheriff's sale, and was dated September 16, 1950 (Ex. 4, p. 42). Thereafter, and on October 19, 1950, the respondents Dowse executed a special warranty deed to respondents Treadway cover-

ing all of Lots 2 and 3, Block 4 of North Columbia Sub-division, for which the respondents paid \$1,000 cash (Finding 21, R. 244; Ex. 6).

Findings 22, 23 and 24 (R. 245) recite that the Treadways had an agreement for warranty deed with Dowse, that they had notice from their abstract (Ex. 4) of the amount of property sold at the execution sale for \$47.46, that the sale was accompanied by irregularities in that the levy was excessive, the sum paid was grossly inadequate, that the sheriff's return failed to cite an attempt to sell personal property, and that the property was sold en masse, and not in separate parcels, also that the Treadways were apprehensive about the regularity of the sale and made some inquiries of Mr. Dowse's attorney and that defendants Treadway did not go to the source of plaintiff's title by contacting the plaintiff or his attorney, further, that defendants J. E. Treadway and Marion Mave Treadway, his wife, were not bona fide purchasers without notice.

By amendment to the pretrial order it was provided that if the Court should find that defendants Treadway are innocent purchasers for value, there would be the question whether the respondent is entitled to judgment against appellant Dowse for the sum of \$1,000 paid by the appellants Treadway for the two lots they purchased, or to the fair market value of those lots (R. 47 and 54).

Milton V. Backman was attorney for Pender in case No. 86895 (R. 58) and that case was settled without a

trial (R. 60). Mr. Backman testified that he received the findings and decree in that case providing for costs (Exhibit A, R. 62), and subsequent to the entry of the decree he and Mr. Duncan arranged for a quit claim deed covering property in dispute (R. 63). Mr. Backman had free and open dealings with Mr. Duncan in that matter and had known him over a long period of years; he relied on Mr. Duncan in settling that case and relied on Mr. Duncan, without anything in writing, to satisfy the judgment for costs (R. 63, 65 and 66). Mr. Backman understood that the cost judgment was to be satisfied and was surprised when he learned of the execution sale and told Mr. Duncan he had assumed that if they were going to press the judgment for costs it would have been mentioned (R. 68), and told Mr. Duncan it was a violation of their agreement for him to proceed with execution sale (R. 69).

Mr. LeCheminant, a qualified appraiser, testified that the two lots purchased by the appellants Treadway were worth \$1080.00 (R. 81).

Mr. Backman testified on cross examination that he personally received the findings and decree in case No. 86895 on November 4, 1949 (R. 90) and that he received the Salt Lake Times (R. 89). Mr. Bleak, deputy sheriff, testified that the notice of execution sale was published in this paper on February 17th and for four weeks (R. 142). Mr. Backman further testified that he had relied on Mr. Duncan in that case and that it is his practice to

rely on attorneys "and I assumed by the same token I was dealing with a brother attorney who would treat me fairly in this matter" (R. 97 to 98), and for that reason paid no attention to the mention of costs in the judgment nor to whether a cost bill was served on his office (R. 98).

Mr. Pender testified that he had known Mr. Dowse for many years and had had many business transactions with him and that Mr. Dowse had represented him (R. 103 to 104). He considered Mr. Dowse a close friend (R. 106, 134).

Mr. Bleak, Deputy Sheriff, testified that he held the sheriff's sale on February 14, 1950 and that only Mr. Duncan and Mr. Dowse were present to bid on the property and that he offered it for sale in bulk and not in separate parcels and that there was no request for separate sales (R. 139, 140). He made no effort to locate personal property belonging to Mr. Pender prior to the sale of real property (R. 141).

Mr. Duncan testified that the property was sold in three parcels, the lots in each block being a parcel (R. 184 to 185) and that he bid separately on each parcel (R. 185). He further testified that in his opinion there was a judgment for \$3,086.44 against Pender, which would be a lien against all of Pender's property (R. 191). And on cross examination again testified that the property was offered in three separate parcels (R. 195, 196). He also testified that he did not feel kindly toward Mr. Backman because of the settlement in Case No. 86895,

which Mr. Backman forced, and that he had no trouble with Mr. Backman until that (R. 199, 200).

Mr. Pender was recalled and testified that most of the deals he had been in with Mr. Dowse were quite questionable and that he would check the titles before deals were consummated (R. 224).

The evidence which specifically concerned the appellants Treadway was stipulated including Exhibit 3 (an earnest money receipt), Exhibit 4 (Abstract of Title), Exhibit 5 (Title Opinion, written by Richard L. Bird, Jr.), and Exhibit 6, (a special warranty deed, dated October 20, 1950) (R. 158). It was stipulated that the price paid was \$1,000 for lots 2 and 3, Block 4 (R. 154). It was stipulated that Mr. Rich, real estate broker, handled this purchase for the appellants Treadway and sent Mrs. Nagle to the office of Mr. Dowse for the deed which was recorded by her and did not know until after the commencement of this action that the deed given was a special warranty deed and not a general warranty deed, (R. 154-155) and that Mr. Treadway would testify that he did not know that fact until after the action was commenced, and both of them understood that the deed called for by the earnest money receipt was a general warranty deed (R. 154-155).

It was agreed in the pretrial order that the appellants Treadway had no notice of defects in the execution sale procedure except such as were revealed by the abstract to the property (R. 34, paragraph 11).

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED ON

POINT ONE

THE EXECUTION SALE WAS NOT WHOLLY VOID.

POINT TWO

THE BOND FIDE PURCHASE OF LOTS 2 AND 3, BLOCK 4, BY THE TREADWAYS CUT OFF RESPONDENT'S RIGHT TO DEFEAT TITLE OF S. W. DOWSE.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE EXECUTION SALE WAS NOT WHOLLY VOID.

It is our position that after the time for redemption had passed, the respondent could no longer attack the deed of the purchaser at execution sale. And if the sale were voidable only, facts do not exist in this case to permit the respondent to avoid the sale. These appellants rely on the brief and the position of the appellants Dowse as to this matter.

POINT TWO

THE BOND FIDE PURCHASE OF LOTS 2 AND 3, BLOCK 4, BY THE TREADWAYS CUT OFF RESPONDENT'S RIGHT TO DEFEAT TITLE OF S. W. DOWSE.

The statement of Point 2 assumes that the sale on execution was voidable at the instance of Pender on direct attack. This question is argued by appellants Dowse and these appellants rely on said brief and said position.

See also: *33 C. J. S. 589; 1 A. L. R. 1442; 31 Am. Jur. Title, Judicial Sales, Sections 83, 235, 238, 241.*

We assume further that the right to avoid the sale survived after the lapse of the six months period for redemption. Generally speaking, expiration of the period of redemption cuts off the right to avoidance and the right would survive only by reason of special facts which respondent has not here shown, or by reason of the fact that the sale was entirely void. This sale was not void, but voidable, only. *1 A. L. R. 1442-1443.*

We, therefore, take the position that the appellant Dowse conveyed to the Treadways a better title and a stronger position than he himself enjoyed by reason of the purchase at execution sale. This is the usual rule where the doctrine of bona fide purchaser is applicable. The bona fide purchase generally cuts off rights of cancellation or to set aside sale. *24 Am. Jur. 272-274; 55 Am. Jur. 1119-1120.*

The Treadways, in this case, were bona fide purchasers for full value. The price they paid for Lots 2 and 3 of Block 4 North Columbia Subdivision was \$1,000.00 (R. 244). Mr. LeCheminant testified that in his opinion the fair value of these lots, assuming marketable title could be given, was \$1080.00 (R. 81), which is a slight differential. This was no bargain and both the price and the agreement for warranty deed indicate that a good title was bargained for (Ex. 3).

The record of the sale, as shown in Exhibit 4, pages 40, 41, 42 and 43 discloses no irregularity and only that

the amount of the judgment was small as compared with the value of the property sold.

In the argument before the District Court the respondent contended that the sheriff's certificate of sale and the sheriff's return of sale reflect no effort to find personal property belonging to the respondent and contain no proof that the amount of the judgment was not bid for a single parcel of land.

The same abstract discloses the sheriff's sale on execution by which the respondent initially acquired his title to this property. The original execution is at page 29 of Exhibit 4 and is in exactly the same form as page 40. The difference is that the amount of the judgment in that case was larger. The certificate of sale at page 31 is the same as the certificate at page 41 except that less property was sold, and the Sheriff's Deed at page 38 was issued shortly after six months from the date of sale had expired in the same manner that the deed on page 42 was.

The sheriff's certificate at page 41 does not disclose whether the property was sold in separate parcels or whether there was no bid for separate parcels and the sheriff was compelled to sell all of the land to obtain a bid, or whether the sheriff offered all of the land for sale initially, in an improper manner.

The record shows that the attorney for the Treadways examined Exhibit 4 and wrote an opinion thereon which was Exhibit 5, which refers to inquiry made of Mr. Duncan, the attorney for the judgment creditor who was present at the sale, to determine whether the sale was

lawfully conducted. Exhibit 5 discloses that Mr. Duncan answered that the property was sold in separate parcels and that the total of the separate pieces was the amount recited in the certificate. The record further shows that Mr. Treadway and his agent, Mr. Rich, relied on this opinion and this information and had no knowledge of any irregularity in the sale (R. 155, 156).

Such inquiry was reasonable and the making of the inquiry, as well as the answer received, establish the good faith of the Treadways. The only reasonable assumption is that Mr. Duncan who brought this sale about would have a better recollection of its conduct than the Sheriff's Office which conducts many sales. This was a proper and sufficient inquiry within the rules noted at *55 Am. Jur. 1080-1081*.

Respondent argued in the District Court, and will probably argue here, that we shouldn't have made inquiry of, or relied on Mr. Duncan. The information needed was how the sale was conducted. Neither Mr. Backman nor Mr. Pender was present at the sale and neither could give any help.

We relied on an attorney in good standing — an officer of the Courts.

Mr. Backman relied on Mr. Duncan in much the same manner that we did. Respondent takes this position: His attorney got him in this mess by relying on a fellow attorney in the settlement of the earlier case (*Dowse v. Pender*, No. 86895). He did this despite the fact that he had actual, personal notice of judgment for costs (R.

62, 90, Ex. A) and his office received the memorandum of costs (R. 98). He received the Salt Lake Times (R. 89) wherein the notice of sale was published (R. 142), and yet did nothing by way of inquiry to protect his client and confirm his understanding of the settlement.

Despite all this reliance on Mr. Duncan, despite the warnings that the two attorneys had different understandings of the settlement, the respondent and Mr. Backman asked the equity court for relief from their own carelessness *and got it!*

These appellants, who had no notice that anything was wrong, ask only that their reliance on the same person (Mr. Duncan) be protected in like manner as an act of good faith.

Mr. Backman set the stage by relying on Mr. Duncan and should not be heard to say to us that Mr. Duncan was unreliable.

CONCLUSION

Our analysis of the authorities supports the execution sale against this belated attack. And regardless of the holding on the main issue of the case the court should protect appellants Treadway as bona fide purchasers for full value without notice of irregularities in the sale.