1953

Rennold Pender v. S. W. Dowse and Pearl Dowse et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

In *Citizens State Bank vs. McRoberts*, 239 P. 1028, 29 Ariz. 173, the court in equity vacated a sheriff's deed issued after the period of redemption had expired where property worth \$17,833.00 sold to satisfy a judgment of \$705.39. The Court said:

"Now, it must be admitted that the price realized for the property was grossly inadequate—less than 5 per cent. of its average estimated value. We know the courts are reluctant to set aside deeds of property, sold under legal process, merely for inadequacy of price, and justly so.

Generally speaking, they will not do so, unless the equity of the situation is so appealing as that to do otherwise would shock the judgment and the conscience. * * * In view of the fact that plaintiff had never denied her liability on the note but always admitted it, and only neglected to take it up because of the assurance of the primary debtor that he would endeavor to pay it, and the bank's agents having full knowledge that she was only an accommodation maker, we think in fairness such agents should have seen her personally and told her, not only of Starr's delinquency, but what steps they contemplated taking against her property; or, somewhere along the line and before the right of redemption expired, they should have informed her of the situation. In failing to impart such information to plaintiff, and in instructing the bank's attorney not to do so, they not only took an undue advantage of her, but pursued a course well calculated to mislead and surprise her. This circumstance, in connection with the great disparity of price realized to the value of the property, it would seem is amply sufficient reason to cancel the deed."

In *Lovejoy v. Americus* 191 P. 790, 111 Wash. 571, the court set aside the sheriff's deed issued after the period of redemption had expired where property worth in excess of \$4000.00 was sold at sheriff's sale for \$87.29, because of inadequacy of price failure to notify the judgment creditor of the sale although the statute did not require it, and this notwithstanding that prior to the sale the judgment debtor had made repeated demands upon the judgment debtor for payment of the judgment. The judgment creditor permitted the judg-

ment debtor to pay taxes and special improvements and to improve the property. The Court said:

“The judgment in the present case is entirely justified. The respondents acted promptly upon receiving notice that their property had been sold. Mr. Lovejoy was a teamster in the town of Hillyard, and trusted nearly all his other business to his wife, who was, much of the time, almost an invalid. After the issuance of the execution, followed by the sheriff’s sale, and while the rights of respondents were passing away by the lapse of time into the hands of appellant Americus, the continuous dunning theretofore engaged in was changed into an apparently wary and crafty silence, highly calculated to and actually succeeded in lulling the respondents into a sense of security until the year for redemption passed by. *Graffam v. Burgess*, 117 U. S. 180, 6 Sup. Ct. 686, 29 L. Ed. 839. The judgment, with interest and costs, could have been satisfied, prior to the execution, by garnishment proceedings against the tenant of respondents for less than 5 months’ rental, while during the period of redemption from the sheriff’s sale the amount of the judgment, interest, and costs, and increased costs, of \$87.92, could have been satisfied by less than 6 months’ rental from the same tenant, to which appellants, as purchasers at the sheriff’s sale, were entitled under the provisions of section 602, Rem. Code.”

To the same effect see:

Graffam v. Burgess, 117 U.S. 180, 6 Sup. Ct. 686,
21 L. Ed. 839;

VanGraafieland v. Wright, 228 S.W. 465, 268
Mo. 414;

33 CJS, page 494, Sec. 234;

Foote v. Kansas City Life Insurance Co. 92
Fed (2) 744;

Home Owners Loan Corp. vs. Braxton, 44
N.E. (2) 989;

Rogers v. Barton, 53 N.E. (2) 862, 386 Ill. 244;

Fox v. Jackson, 64 N.E. (2) 799, 116 Ind.
App. 390;

Baar v. Smith, 257 P. 861, 97 Cal. App. 398;

Hyman v. Stern, 215 P. 911, 61 Cal. App. 566;

Darden v. Reese, 200 P.(2) 81, 88 Cal. App. 904;

Boiani v. Wilson, 132 Atl. 881, 41 R. I. 317;

Neussler v. Bergman, 251 P. 578, 141 Wash. 297.

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S FINDING OF SLANDER OF TITLE, ITS AWARD OF EXEMPLARY DAMAGES AND ATTORNEY'S FEES.

Appellant Dowse asks this court to reverse its decision in the case of Dowse v. Doris Trust Co., (Utah), 208 P2d 956.

In the instant case we have a real estate broker of long years' experience who knew the effect his acts would have on the title to respondent's property. Appellant by his wrongful acts wholly deprived respondent of the use and enjoyment of his property and deprived respondent of the rentals received therefrom by respondent prior to the sheriff's sale.

Appellant challenges the court's finding of slander of title and contends that a cause of action for slander

or disparagement of property or of the title thereto was neither alleged or proved.

Respondent alleged in paragraphs 13 and 14 of his complaint that appellant in all of the acts theretofore specifically set forth acted maliciously and in order to vex and harass respondent and that appellant knew the filing of the judgment and the sale of the property would cast a cloud upon and slander upon respondent's title and that the same decreased the value of respondent's real estate and made it unmarketable.

That by paragraph 17 of respondent's complaint respondent alleges that appellant acted maliciously and that appellant was guilty of oppression and malice. That the case is one in which punitive and exemplary damages is proper and that \$20,000 is a proper amount of exemplary and punitive damages.

The evidence not only showed that the appellant failed to satisfy the judgment which cast a cloud upon all of the property of respondent after having accepted the benefits of the deed given by respondent to cut off his appeal period and settle the differences between appellant and respondent which the trial court found satisfied the judgment but in addition appellant procured title to all of the property levied upon and sold at sheriff's sale, thus depriving respondent of his title to his property.

The decision in *Burkett v. Griffiths* cited by appellant was decided in 1891. That decision has been broadened as is pointed out by appellant.

The *Gudger v. Manton* case, 21 Cal. 2d, 537, 134 P2d 217 relied upon by appellant appears to be more favorable to respondent than to appellant. In that case the plaintiff was awarded compensatory damages in the sum of \$16,000 in an action for slander of title. The slander consisted of defendant's having caused execution on a judgment to be made without a privilege to do so. The court quoted from Restatement, Torts, Sec. 624 saying:

“At the outset it is helpful to have before us an accurate definition of that tort. It may be best stated as follows: ‘One who, without a privilege to do so, publishes matter which is untrue and disparaging to another’s property in land under such circumstances as would lead a reasonable man to foresee that the conduct of a third person as purchaser or lessee thereof might be determined thereby, is liable for pecuniary loss resulting to the other from the impairment of vendibility thus caused.’”

The court in applying the rule said:

“It has been held that the recording of a document making a false claim to real property may constitute the publication of the disparaging matter in the tort in question.”

Appellant cites the Wyoming case of *Barquin v. Hall Oil Co.*, 28 Wyo. 164, 201 Pac. 352, 202 Pac. 1107, and argues that the facts showing the special damages claimed must be stated, that an intending purchaser of the property was prevented from making a contract to buy or from buying the land or that a third party

purchaser was induced to breach his contract. This same argument was used by the defendant Doris Trust Company in the case of *Dowse vs. Doris Trust Company*, supra, in which the court speaking through Mr. Justice Wade said:

“Defendants president is a real estate broker with more than 40 years of experience in the real estate business. At the time he filed the instrument he knew that he had no rights or interest in the property, and did so either to force plaintiff to sell to him or make it difficult to sell to anyone else, under such a state of facts his filing was malicious. See *Kelly v. First State Bank*, 145 Minn. 331, 177 N.W. 347, 9 ALR 929 and annotation on page 931. In the *Kelly* case the court held that the malicious filing for record of an instrument known to be inoperative is regarded as slander of title, but if the person records an instrument he has a right to record, it is, of course, not slander of title. Under the pleading and the facts proved, defendant did not have a privilege to record the instrument and his doing so was malicious.”

The court further said:

“It is defendant’s contention that plaintiff having failed to allege and prove a particular sale or sales which had been lost because of its action that plaintiff had failed to present for the consideration of the court, an essential element of the action for slander of title, i.e., a pecuniary loss. It is defendant’s contention that attorneys fees are not recoverable as special damages and that such damages can only be proven by the loss of a particular sale which must be alleged as

well as proved. It cites as authority for this contention the cases of McGuiness v. Hargiss, 56 Wash. 162, 105 P.233, 21 Ann. Cas. 220, Hubbard v. Scott, 85 Or. 1, 166 P. 33, and City of Shreveport v. Kahn, 194 La. 55, 193 So. 461. All of the above cases held that attorneys' fees are not recoverable in an action for slander of title. *However, we are not impressed with the reasoning of those cases and others to the same effect. The action of slander of title is based on a wrongful act but for which the plaintiff would not have had to incur any expense, either for costs or for attorney's fees. The reasoning in Chesbro v. Powers, 78 Mich. 472, 44 N.W. 290, is more in harmony with justice."* (Italics added)

Mr. Justice Wade then goes on and quotes extensively from the Chesebro case.

Appellant contends that there is no evidence to support the court's finding 9 and charges the trial court with an illegal, capricious and wholly arbitrary finding and says the court was confused in awarding punitive and exemplary damages, claiming that the only damages allowable for slander of title are special damages. Such is not the case. This court said in the Dowse v. Doris Trust Company case supra:

"That punitive damages may be awarded in an action for slander of title see Hopkins v. Drowne, 21 R.I. 20, 41 A. 567."

From a reading of the Hopkins case cited by the Utah court in the Doris Trust case we find the following statement by the court:

“In addition to the actual damages sustained by the plaintiff, it was discretionary with the jury to also award punitive or exemplary damages. (Kenyon v. Cameron, 17 R.I. 122, 20 Atl. 233; Vogel v. McAuliffe, 18 R.I. 791, 31 Atl. 1.)”

The trial court having properly found that the acts of appellant were malicious, respondent is entitled to an award as pecuniary and exemplary damages of considerably more than the \$500.00 granted by the trial court.

In answer to subdivision V of appellant's brief, Whether Attorney's fees in an action for slander of title are allowable, appellant again asks this court to reverse the Dowse v. Doris Trust Company case supra from which case we have quoted under Respondent's answer to subdivision IV of appellant's brief and in which case this court quoted from Restatement of the Law of Torts, Sec. 633, pages 347-8, wherein it is stated:

“The pecuniary loss for which a publisher of disparaging matter is liable under the rules stated in Secs. 624 and 626-627 is restricted to

‘(a) that pecuniary loss which directly and immediately results from the impairment of the vendibility of the thing in question caused by publication of the disparaging matter, and

(b) the expense of litigation reasonably necessary to remove the doubt cast by the disparagement upon the other's property in the thing or upon the quality thereof.’”

Following which Mr. Justice Wade said:

“Attorney’s fees are certainly a reasonable expense of litigation.”

To the same effect do we answer subdivision VI on the question of punitive damages.

It has been said that to support a judgment for pecuniary damages malice must be expressed. It is also said that malice need not be expressly shown but it may be implied.

See *Gudger v. Manton*, (Cal.) 134 P2d 217 in which the court said:

“True, it has been said or intimated that malice is an essential element in slander of title. (Citing cases) That malice may, however, be express or implied. *Feron v. Fodera*, 169 Cal. 370, 148 P. 200; *Kendis v. Cohn*, 90 Cal. App. 41, 265 P. 844; see cases collected 129 A.L.R. 179. And if there is an absence of privilege or justification, and the other elements necessary are present, an implication of malice in law is proper, if that term is used, or actual malice may in some cases show lack of privilege.”

The *Gudger v. Manton* case *supra*, involved the levy and recording of a writ of execution upon real property regarding which the ruling of the court is applicable and which is in part as follows:

“Such instruments on record had all the appearance of an assertion by defendants of a claim to an interest in the property, and as a matter of common knowledge would have an effect upon a prospective purchaser of the property and the merchantability of the title. He would naturally

assume that plaintiff's title was not merchantable, as it was encumbered by a lien to an indefinite extent. Defendants as reasonable persons should have reasonably foreseen that such would be the effect of their action. Restatement, Torts, Sec. 629. As we have seen, the reasonable imputation of the recording was a claim of an interest adverse to plaintiff's title. Whether a cloud on the title in the technical sense existed was immaterial."

It is not necessary, however, to rely on implied malice inasmuch as there is an abundance of evidence to show malice in fact. It is clearly evident that appellant was disgruntled at respondent's asking for and collecting \$100 for a quit claim deed given to cut off respondent's appeal period. The act thereafter on the part of appellant was a design to get even with respondent, not to collect the mere pittance of \$22.80 but to incur the greatest amount of expense possible upon respondent and to take from respondent all property possible. This malice is further borne out by the evidence of appellant's having sold the washing machine for \$10.00 which respondent entrusted to appellant when it had a value of \$175.00, which was more than enough to satisfy the judgment had it been a valid one.

Under subdivision V appellant cites general principles of law which do not apply to recorded instruments affecting title to real property, nor does appellant distinguish those cases involving instruments recorded and affecting title to real property and those cases not involving these facts. There is a clear distinction.

It has been held that where one places of record an instrument which compels the owner to come to terms with him is liable in a suit for slander of title. See *Collins v. Whitehead*, (CC) 34 F 121, cited in 150 ALR 721 in which the court in sustaining a suit in the nature of an action for slander of title to recover damages for the recording by the defendant of a proposed contract of sale after he had failed to comply therewith within the required time, said that one who wantonly puts on record such a paper, apparently with the intent to compel the owner of the property to come to terms with him, ought not to have refuge in the technicalities or the weakness of the law; that the injury to the plaintiff was real, as he was compelled to bring suit to remove the cloud from his title, and, for the time, his property was useless to him; and that it would be a reproach to the law to give only nominal damages in such a case, and a verdict for substantial damages was upheld.

On appeal, all conflicts in evidence must be resolved in favor of respondent, and all legitimate and reasonable inferences must be indulged in to uphold the verdict, if possible.

ANALYSIS OF AUTHORITIES CITED BY APPELLANT DOWSE

Appellant Dowse cites four Utah decisions in support of his claim that the sale could not be attacked in equity, none of which are in point.

In *Dickert v. Weise*, 2 Ut. 350, 40 Pac. St. Reports, 350, there was no inadequacy of price, irregularities, fraud, unfairness or conspiracy. The sale was fair and regular.

In *National Realty Sales Co. v. Ewing*, 55 U. 438, 186 Pac. 1103, the debtor had knowledge of the sale and stood silent. The court said there was nothing in the record "to suggest fraud and concealment."

In *Chausse v. Bank of Garland*, 71 U. 586, 268 Pac. 781, inadequacy of price, not gross inadequacy of price was the sole ground.

In *Adams v. Pratt*, District Judge, 87 Utah, 89, 48 Pac. (2) 444, the only ground for vacating the sale was failure to offer separately non-contiguous tracts before selling enmass.

All of the foregoing cases were foreclosure proceedings and the judgment debtor had been notified of the sale. In none of the cases cited was there a multiple of causes, viz: gross inadequacy of price, irregularities, concealment, fraud, unfairness and conspiracy. It should be noted that from this list of cases the only Utah case in point *Young v. Schroeder*, 10 Ut. 155, 37 Pac. 252, 161 U.S. 334, 40 Law Ed. 721, 16 Sup. Ct. 512 was omitted.

The appellant Dowse also cites seven California cases in support of his position, none of which are in point. Some of the cases relied on support respondent. In *Smith v. Randall*, 6 Cal. 47, 2 Pac. St. Rep. 47, the judgment debtor was present at the sale

and directed the sheriff to sell realty rather than his personality. The debtor claimed that he could not waive this right. There was no fraud, concealment, unfairness or conspiracy. In *Bechtel v. Weir*, 152 Cal. 443, 93 Pac. 75, 15 A.L.R. (N.S.) 549, the only irregularity was in offering the property for sale, that is, it was not offered separately before being sold enmasse. *Batini v. Ivancich*, 105 Cal. App. 391, 287 Pac. 523 the sole ground was the mis-statement of the date of the entry of the judgment the court said:

“and further than this the court has always lent a willing ear to the debtor who could show fraud or unfairness in the sale of his property, and where a proper showing has been made full relief has followed.”

Mitchell v. Alpha Hardware & Supply Co., 7 Cal. App. (2) 52, 45 Pac. (2) 442 the sole grounds was failure to offer separately before offering enmasse.

In *Knapp vs. Rose*, 32 Cal (2d) 530, 197 P (2d) 7, the court supports respondent and recognizes that under certain facts a suit in equity to vacate a sale and deed is proper.

Appellant would have this Honorable Court apply the rule of law as laid down in *Rauer v. Hertweck*, 175 Cal 278; 165 Pac. 946. While it is recognized there is no legal duty imposed upon the Sheriff to search for the debtor in order that he might be given actual notice nor of the creditor to do so, still the courts do not and will not we think encourage a judgment creditor to refrain from making demand upon the debtor, to trans-

act business matters with the debtor from time to time and to continue to deal with the debtor at all times after the judgment has been entered and especially one of such a small amount, in the same manner as the creditor would have done had the relationship of debtor and creditor not existed. Appellant knew respondent could pay the judgment at any time demand was made upon him, however, the record reflects the fact that the concern of appellant at all times was that respondent might learn of the judgment before appellant had accomplished his cunning act and thus defeat the purpose of appellant.

Appellant cites Story's Equity Jurisprudence Sec. 245 as authority in support of his argument that inadequacy of consideration is not of itself sufficient grounds for relief in equity. Respondent does not rely upon inadequacy of consideration alone, neither did the trial court find inadequacy of consideration alone as grounds for setting aside the sale, the court found inadequacy coupled with irregularities, unfairness, fraud and a conspiracy.

The following cases cited by appellants appear to be those on which one element alone is involved, viz: either inadequacy of consideration, failure to offer in separate parcels, failure to satisfy out of unexempted personal property or failure to give personal notice of sale to debtor; no case is cited wherein all of the elements are present as in the instant case.

In *Thomas v. Thomas*, 44 Mont. 102, 119 Pac. 283, the deed was collaterally attacked because of failure

to sell property separately. The court said that the debtor should have either moved to set aside the sale or proceeded by a bill in equity. That either was a direct attack.

In *Fox v. Curry*, 96 Mont. 212, 29 Pac. (2) 663, the sole ground was a defective notice, however, the court said that it appears the whole transaction was in good faith.

In the Idaho case of *Coghlan v. City of Boise*, 36 Ida. 613, 212 Pac. 867, the court merely held that a judgment debtor present at a sale cannot complain of a sale enmasse when he made no request to sell otherwise.

In *Mt. Vernon National Bank v. Morse*, 128 Ore. 64, 264 Pac. 439, the sole ground was an irregularity in the notice of sale.

In *Whitworth v. McKee*, 32 Wash. 83; 72 Pac. 1046 the court held that a collateral attack could not be made on a judgment when the sheriff made a return that he was unable to find personal property sufficient to satisfy a judgment. The court recognizes the necessity of such a return. We again direct the court's attention to *Lovejoy v. Americus*, supra, which set aside a Sheriff's Deed issued after the period of redemption had expired because of inadequacy of price, failure to give notice and failure to collect by garnishment proceedings.

Oliver v. Dougherty, 8 Ariz. 65, 68 Pac. 553 the sole ground was failure to levy on personality, nothing more.

Regarding the Arizona decision cited, the attention of the Court is directed again to Citizen's State Bank vs. McRoberts, supra, in which the court vacated a deed issued after the period of redemption had run where inadequacy of price, no demand, or notification of sale was given.

In Bird v. Kitchens, Ark; 221 SW (2d) 795, cited by appellant we find a case wherein complainant knew of the sheriff's sale being conducted and while he did not attend the sale still he sent his secretary to attend with instructions to make notes of that which took place, after the deed issued he sought to collaterally attack the deeds on alleged irregularities committed by the officer conducting the sale.

And in Gross v. Simsack, 364 Pa. 337; 72 Atl. (2d) 103, we find where property which had an assessed value of \$7500.00 brought \$9100 at the execution sale and the court held that there was no showing of inadequacy of consideration.

Respondent is unable to find the Knox v. Noggle case under Appellant's citation.

In Bonner v. Lockhart, 236 Ala. 171; 181 South. 767, the court found that the record did not sustain an averment that complainant had no knowledge of the execution sale. Complainant had received and ignored the statutory demands for possession of the property levied upon. The court further found that the right of redemption had been forfeited without any action on the part of respondent lulling complainant into delay or

non-compliance with the demand for possession. It appears complainant persistently ignored and disregarded all rights of respondent.

The Horken v. Eason, 10 Ga. App. 236; 73 S.E. 352 case cited is one which was decided on an agreed statement of facts which does not appear in the record of the case.

In Dixon v. Peacock, 30 Okla. 87; 141 Pac. 429 it was agreed between the plaintiff and defendant that the proceeding was a collateral attach on the judgment, the property sought to be recovered was sold at sheriff's sale and the sale was confirmed by the court, the court having found the proceedings of the sheriff regular.

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